1979

C & J Industries, Inc., A Utah Corporation, A.
Robert Collins and Glade N. James v. Edward O.
Bailey and Ruth C. Bailey, His Wife : Appellant's
Brief

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

This is an action by plaintiffs-respondents, hereinafter referred to as "plaintiffs", for judgment as follows:

- "1. That an order to show cause issue immediately requiring the defendants to appear and show cause, if any they have, why they should not be restrained from forfeiting the rights under said contract until the court has had a full hearing in this matter and entered its judgment declaring the rights of the parties.
- "2. For a declaratory judgment declaring that the terms and conditions of the real estate contract which is Exhibit "A" attached to the complaint have not been violated and that payments thereunder may continue pursuant to the terms thereof." (Prayer of Complaint, P.3)

Edward O. Bailey and Ruth C. Bailey, his wife, hereinafter referred to as "Baileys" contend that plaintiffs have breached the provisions of said contract and pray for judgment against

plaintiffs:

- a. No cause of action against plaintiffs and for costs and a reasonable attorney fee. (p.24)

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

Each of the parties submitted the matter pursuant to motions for summary judgments by the respective parties and a motion for attorney's fees by Baileys for enforcement of the contract under paragraph 21 of said contract which reads:

"21. The Buyer and Seller each agree that should the default in any of the covenants or agreements contain herein, that the defaulting party shall pay all costs and expenses, including a reasonable attorney's fee, which may arise or accrue from enforcing this Agreement, or in obtaining possession of the premises covered hereby, or in pursuing any remedy provided hereunder or by the Statutes of the State of Utah whether such remedy is pursued by filing a suit or otherwise." (underscore added)

The court granted plaintiffs-respondents motion for summary judgment and denied defendants-appellants motions.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Reversal of the granted motion for summary judgment and the granting of the motion for summary judgment of defendant and motion for costs and attorney's fees for enforcing said contract provision.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Baileys and C & J Industries Incorporated, a corporat

designated as Buyer, made and entered a contract entitled Uniform Real Estate Contract, designated as Exhibit "A" (p.6) on the 13th day of April, 1978, for the purchase of the following described lands in Salt Lake County, State of Utah, to-wit:

All of Lots 17, 18, 19, 27, 28, 30, 31, 32, 33 and 34, Block 6, Longview Park Addition, as recorded in the office of the County Recorder of Salt Lake County, State of Utah, subject to existing rights of way. (Exhibit M-D-1) (p. 6 and 53)

Three of said lots face on State Street and have a business building thereon, and eight of said lots are in the rear across the alley and had a storage building and were used for parking. (p.53)

To definitely fix the persons responsible, Baileys required a Guaranty (p.25) by and between said Baileys and A. Robert Collins and Glade N. James, "principal officers" of said corporation, wherein it was covenanted and agreed:

"Buyer, and A. Robert Collins and Glade N. James are each jointly and individually bound to satisfy the obligations of said C & J Industries, Incorporated, under the terms of said Uniform Real Estate Contract, and to perform each of the covenants and agreements therein.

"Each and all of the parties to said Uniform Real Estate Contract are each severally and jointly bound to perform the obligations, covenants and agreements of said contract, said Edward O. Bailey and Ruth C. Bailey, his wife, as Seller, and said C & J Industries Incorporated, a corporation, as Buyer, and said A. Robert Collins and Glade N. James individually and jointly." (Exhibit D-1 attached to Answer) (p.25)

That paragraph 3(a) of said Uniform Real Estate Contract, Exhibit A, provides in part:

"In the event Buyer desires to sell or assign, transfer or convey Buyer's rights under this contract or Buyer's interest in said premises, then and in the event the Buyer must pay in full the outstanding balance due on this contract prior to said transaction (underscore added) (p.6)

On or about March 9, 1979, plaintiffs, Collins and James, not the Buyers under said contract, but the Guarantors, sold a portion of the subject real property and said office building located thereon to one Jay L. Burgie pursuant to a Uniform Real Estate Contract dated March 9, 1979, a copy of which contract is attached to the Complaint herein and marked as Exhibit B, (p.10) and said contract contemplated the transfer of three lots containing the building and all State Street-facing property (p.10), Lots 17, 18 and 19 of Block 6, Ten-Acre Plat "A", Big Field Survey of Longview Park Addition. (p.53)

Under date of March 19, 1979, counsel for Baileys mailed a letter (p.54) to each of plaintiffs advising of the breach and asking it to be corrected. (p.54)

Baileys thereafter had prepared and served upon C & J Industries Incorporated, on April 4, 1979, upon A. Robert Collins on April 5, 1979, and upon Glade N. James on April 9, 1979, a "NOTICE TO REINSTATE THE TERMS OF THE CONTRACT TO PURCHASE BY PAYMENT OF ALL DELINQUENT AMOUNTS DUE AND OWING BY VIRTUE OF THE SALE OF THE PROPERTY SUBJECT TO SAID CONTRACT OR FORFEIT ALL RIGHTS UNDER SAID CONTRACT". (p.13) Exhibit C. Said Notices set forth said subparagraph (a) of Paragraph 3 of said Uniform Real Estate Contract and stated:

"That said Jay L. Burgie, dba Ogden Beauty Supply Company has reputedly purchased a portion of said real property in contravention of said agreement in that said 'the full and outstanding balance due on this contract prior to said transaction' has not been paid.

"In contravention of said specific provision of said contract rights of said Buyer and interests of said Buyer in said described properties have been sold, or assigned or transferred or conveyed without the 'outstanding balance due on said contract' having been paid to Buyer 'prior to said transaction.'

"NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT WITHIN THIRTY DAYS AFTER SERVICE OF THIS NOTICE UPON YOU, SAID CONTRACT MUST BE REINSTATED BY THE PAYMENT OF SELLER 'IN FULL THE OUTSTANDING BALANCE DUE ON THIS CONTRACT'.

"NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT IF YOU CLAIM ANY RIGHTS UNDER SAID CONTRACT, IF THE PAYMENT IN FULL IS NOT PAID WITHIN A REASONABLE TIME, NAMELY 30 DAYS, YOU AND EACH OF YOU ARE HEREBY NOTIFIED THAT SAID CONTRACT OF SALE IS TO BE TERMINATED AND CANCELLED BY REASON OF SAID BREACH OF SAID CONTRACT AND REFUSAL TO PAY THE FULL AMOUNT DUE AND OWING AND BY REASON OF SAID REJECTION OF THE OFFER TO REINSTATE SAID CONTRACT." (Exhibit C) (p.13)

On April 26, 1979, plaintiffs filed the subject action asking for an Order to Show Cause why a restraining order should not issue restraining defendants from declaring a forfeiture under the terms of said contract and for a declaratory judgment, and hearing was set for may 10, 1979, before the above entitled court with the Honorable Christine M. Durham, Judge presiding.

Paragraph 5 of said contract provides:

"5. It is understood and agreed that if the Seller accepts payment from the Buyer on this contract less than according to the terms herein mentioned, then by so doing, it will in no way alter the terms of the contract as to the forfeiture hereinafter stipulated, or as to any other remedies of the Seller."

Paragraph 21 of said Uniform Real Estate Contract provides:

"21. The Buyer and Seller each agree that should they default in any of the covenants or agreements contained herein that the defaulting party shall pay all costs and expenses, including a reasonable attorney's fee, which may arise or accrue from enforcing this agreement, or in obtaining possession of the premises covered hereby, or in pursuing any remedy provided hereunder or by the statutes of the State of Utah whether such remedy is pursued by filing a suit or otherwise."

Attached to the Memorandum in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment was the record of payments sheet showing the payment number of each and every payment made under said contract with the first payment due June 1, 1978, and the written acknowledgment of payments made which are underlined and how payments made through May, 1979, were applied and the balance due and owing on May 1, 1979, which is \$213,034.41. (Exhibit M-D-3). (p.55)

Hearing was had on said May 10, 1979, on said Order to Show Cause. The court ruled that a restraining order at that time did not seem proper.

In order to facilitate the disposition of the matter, the court said that each of the parties might file a Motion for Summary Judgment and that the parties might "get together on the facts". Motions were filed. (p.19, p. 28) Hearing on said Motions was set for May 25, 1979, at 3:00 p.m. before the court. Counsel were invited to file written memorandum, if they chose. Written Memorandum were filed. (p.30,43) An affidavit

in support of motion for attorney's fees to enforce terms of contract was filed. (p.84)

ARGUMENT

POINT I

The Uniform Real Estate Contract, the subject of this action, was signed and agreed to by all parties to this action. Each, individually signed the same, each of the Baileys, C & J Industries Incorporated, by its officers, A. Robert Collins and Glade N. James, individually. (p. 9)

It should be noted that the Buyer under the contract was C & J Industries Incorporated, a corporation, (p.6) and the Seller under the purported contract of sale was Glade N. James and A. Robert Collins. (Exhibit B) (p.10) How the parties are switching the ownership around is not clear. How the property was sold, transferred or assigned or how much is not known. There had to be some. The Buyer under the Uniform Real Estate Contract, (Exhibit A) (p.6) is not the Seller of the premises in the Uniform Real Estate Contract between Glade N. James and A. Robert Collins and Jay L. Burgie. (Exhibit B) (p.10)

The Guaranty, (p.15) signed by the parties was to make each of the parties personally and jointly responsible for the performance of said contract. (Exhibit D-1)(p.25) Unknown persons who were responsible for the corporation were made definite by the Guaranty.

Paragraph 3 of said contract (p.6) reads:

"3. Said Buyer hereby agrees to enter into possession and pay for said described premises the sum of Two

Hundred Twenty Thousand Dollars (\$220,000.00) payable at the office of the Seller, his assigns, or order in Salt Lake City, Utah, strictly within the following times, to-wit: Two Hundred and Ninety-seven Dollars and 31/100 (\$2,297.31) per month commencing June 1, 1978.

(a) In the event Buyer desires to sell or assign, transfer or convey Buyer's rights under this contract or Buyer's interest in said premises then and in that event the Buyer must pay in full the outstanding balance due on this contract prior to said transaction . . ." (underscore added) (p.6)

In Black's Law Dictionary, we read:

"With respect to ownership of external objects of property, rights may be classed as absolute and qualified. An absolute right gives to the person in whom it inheres the uncontrolled dominion over the object at all times and for all purposes. A qualified right gives the possessor a right to the object for certain purposes or under certain circumstances only."
(Black's Law Dictionary, p. 1559—under Classification)

The Buyer took the subject property subject to the terms of the contract which imposed conditions. C & J Industries Inc. purchased the property subject to the conditions of paragraph 3(a). Based on the facts and documents before the court, Glade N. James and A. Robert Collins have no rights or interests in these premises or in the contract. The court must assume a sale, assignment, or conveyance of C & J Industries, Inc. rights or interests to Glade N. James and A. Robert Collins in order for them to enter the contract executed by them on March 9, 1979. (Exhibit B) (p. 8). If there were a sale, assignment or conveyance by C & J Industries Inc. to Glade N. James and A. Robert Collins, then it was a breach of paragraph 3(a). That paragraph requires that "prior to said transaction" the "Buyer must pay in full the outstanding balance"

Section 22 of said contract provides:

"22. It is understood that the stipulations aforesaid are to apply to and bind the heirs, executors, administrators, successors, and assigns of the respective parties hereto."

Section 19, of said contract provides, in part:

"19. The Seller on receiving the payments herein reserved to be paid at the time and in the manner above mentioned agrees to execute and deliver to the Buyer or assigns, a good and sufficient warranty deed conveying the title to the above described premises free and clear of all encumbrances . . ."

C & J Industries Inc. had the right to assign its "rights" and "interests". The contrary is not contended. However, prior to said "sale, assignment, transfer or conveyance" the "buyer must pay in full the outstanding balance due on this contract." If "buyer desires to sell or assign, transfer or convey Buyer's rights under this contract or buyer's interest in said premises then and in that event the Buyer must pay in full the outstanding balance due on this contract prior to said transaction." What could be more clear? All parties signed this contract with this limitation. The sale to Burgie was all of the business building and property facing on State Street, the main thoroughfare. The retained portion is rear property consisting of parking space and warehouse space.

The key to this business property is the front store. The contract does not provide that a portion of the property may be sold, assigned or transferred or conveyed. The contract specifically provides that if "the Buyer's interest in the premises

is sold, assigned or transferred or conveyed the Buyer must pay in full the outstanding balance."

The Seller is not trying to restrict the rights of the Buyer. This was agreed to in writing. Jay L. Burgie, is not the one Seller is looking to "not to commit or suffer to be committed to any waste, spoil, or destruction in or upon said premises." (p. 10) Buyer can assign or sell to whom Buyer pleases but when Buyer does, Seller is to receive "pay in full of the outstanding balance."

In the instant case, "Buyer's interest in said premises was sold. It was no one else's interest. It was "buyer's interest" even though buyer was retaining some additional interest, but buyer was selling "Buyer's interest."

What havoc the courts would wrought if parties were permitted to sell, assign or transfer part of the properties sold when parties had agreed not to sell, assign or transfer the properties purchased. If one contracts not to sell the property, can a court of law permit one to sell part of it, and part of it again, and part of it again until for all practical purposes it is all sold. When one contracts not to sell a piece of property and courts cannot authorize the sale of part of the property. Pandora's box would certainly be opened.

POINT II

THE PHRASE "RIGHTS OR INTERESTS" DOES NOT MEAN ALL RIGHTS OR ALL INTERESTS, BUT INCLUDES A PART OR PORTION

The contract executed between the parties was designed

in part, to protect defendants against third parties obtaining rights in the property over which defendants had no control. To avoid that undesirable position, defendants required plaintiffs to pay the balance of the contract price in the event plaintiffs sold, transferred or assigned their interest in the property. This was the only protection defendants had from outside parties with whom they had no privity of contract.

Plaintiffs have argued that "rights" and "Interests" refer to "all of their rights" or "all of their interests" and not just a portion of them. The contract does not so provide. Each part is contained within the whole and when a condition applies to the whole it applies to each part. Plaintiffs contend that it would be ridiculous under defendants' interpretation of the contract to completely pay the balance of the contract if they sold or assigned one square foot of property. The choice is with the plaintiffs, plaintiffs need not sell. Plaintiffs reasoned that they could sell all but one square foot of property without paying off the contract since they would still own an interest in the property.

In attempting to determine the definition of "right" or "interest", counsel was unable to find a Utah case in point. However, the Minnesota Supreme Court defined "interest in land" in "In Re Rood's Estate, 38 N.W. 2d 70, 229 Minn. 73 (1949) as follows:

"In the instant case, the prayer for relief presented to the court the broad issue of declaring

or ascertaining the title or interest of the applicant in the land. Obviously, the applicant's interest in the land could not be determined without giving consideration to the validity and extent of all encumbrances. 'Interest in land' is a broad term which may refer to any one of a variety of estates or fractional shares in realty. It may refer to the net equity or fractional property value possessed by the owner over and above the sum total unpaid on outstanding encumbrances." (emphasis added)

ACCELERATION CLAUSES

To argue that Acceleration Clauses are against public policy or illegal would be specious. All of the parties agreed the acceleration clause in writing.

Baileys sold to C & J Industries Inc. without any down payment. The monthly payments were a small fraction over one percent of the purchase price. When interest rates were six percent per annum rent was usually figured at one percent per month of the purchase price or fair market value. That was the way a fair computation of the rental value was figured. With interest rates soaring to fifteen and three-quarters percent prime rate, the one percent per annum would not be feasible. No bank would make such a loan as there is no profit margin or inflation considered. This loan was made under the most favorable of conditions to the buyer. The contract protected the seller against having anything to do with any other buyer, assignee, transferee or purchaser. That is a fair, legal and legitimate condition to a contract. The only party capable of accelerating payment was C & J Industries Inc. The contract was written for that express purpose. That was the purpose of subsection 3(a).

There is no question of fraud, or the lack of knowledge

the terms of the contract. There is a desire to abrogate the terms of the contract.

The court went on to state in Peck v. Judd, 326 P.2d 712, 7 Utah 2d 420:

"It is not our prerogative to step in and renegotiate the contract of the parties. It may be conceded that with an advantaged background we may be able to improve on their work and considering the changed times and conditions say what now appears to us to be fair under such conditions. Possibly at least one of the parties would agree. There is no reason why we should consider the vendee privileged and entitled to our intervention unless the conditions sought to be imposed on the vendee are unconscionable . . .

"Further than to determine if enforcement of the contract results in gross inequity, and unless and until the enforcement would be highly unconscionable, we should recognize and honor the right of persons to contract freely and to make real and genuine mistakes when the dealings are at arm's length."

The provisions of Section 3(a) (b) and (c) are not provisions of the standard Uniform Real Estate Contract. This contract was typed to specifically include paragraph 3(a). There is no question of fraud, unconscionable advantage taken, or deceit. This contract provided simply that the Seller would deal only with the buyer. In the event buyer wanted to unload the contract or take advantage of a sale that the seller must be paid out in full. The Buyer could sell to anyone buyer chose upon such terms as buyer might desire. The buyer's interest in the contract and the premises was so tied that if the buyer wanted out, the seller wanted out first. There is nothing fraudulent or unconscionable about that situation.

SALE OR EXECUTORY CONTRACT

In the Supplemental Memorandum counsel for plaintiffs quoted in part from 67 Am Jur 2d, "Sales", Section 8, in an attempt to differentiate between a sale and an executory sale. However, the final paragraph of Section 8 which plaintiffs omitted, clarifies the artificial distinction between a sale and a contract for sale. It states as follows:

" . . . Although the Uniform Commercial Code defines 'contract for sale' separately from 'present sale,' no distinction is made between the rights of the parties according to whether the transaction is a present sale or a contract to sell, unless a provision of Article II expressly so provides. In short, pre-Code distinctions between a sale and contract to sell will continue under the Uniform Commercial Code; but the distinction is theoretical for most purposes, since the passing of title is of relatively little importance under the Code."

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