1979

C & J Industries, Inc., A Utah Corporation, A.  
Robert Collins and Glade N. James v. Edward O.  
Bailey and Ruth C. Bailey, His Wife : Respondents'  
Brief

Utah Supreme Court

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

#### ARGUMENT

##### I

A UNIFORM REAL ESTATE CONTRACT CONSTITUTES A PROMISE TO CONVEY, TRANSFER, SELL OR ASSIGN, BUT DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A PRESENT SALE, ASSIGNMENT, TRANSFER OR CONVEYANCE.

The law holds that a purchase-money real estate contract such as the one between these parties (TR. 6-9) is an executory contract for a sale. It does not constitute a present sale, and, therefore, does not trigger the acceleration of the contract pursuant to Paragraph 3(a) thereof, and Respondents' refusal to pay off the total outstanding balance of the contract does not constitute a breach thereof.

The issue with respect to this particular aspect of the case is whether a Uniform Real Estate Contract constitutes a sale of real property or an executory contract to consummate

a sale. The focal point of that issue is: "What is a sale?" In that regard, reference can usually be made to Black's Law Dictionary where we find the following definitions:

A contract between two parties called, respectively, the "seller" (or vendor) and the "buyer" (or purchaser), by which the former, in consideration of the payment or promise of payment of a certain price of money, transfers to the latter, the title and possession of property. Butler v. Thomson, 92 U.S. 414; 23 L.Ed. 684. In re Franks Estate, 277 N.Y.S. 573, 154 Misc. 472 [other citations omitted.]

A contract whereby property is transferred from one person to another for a consideration of value, implying the passing of a general and absolute title, as distinguished from a special interest falling short of complete ownership. Arnold v. North American Chemical Co., 232 Mass. 196, 122 N.E. 283, 284; Falkner v. Town of South Boston, 140 Va. 517, 127 S.E. 380, 381. (Emphasis added.) Black's Law Dictionary, 4th Ed., p. 1503.

In short, it is obvious that a sale constitutes the transfer of absolute title. In 67 Am.Jur. 2d, "Sale", §8, we find a similar statement.

A sale has been distinguished from a contract to sell. The latter was considered a contract whereby the seller agreed to transfer the property and goods to the buyer for consideration called the price. It has been said that under the Uniform Sales Act "a sale" implied and involved passing of title. Accordingly, there has been a material distinction between a sale and a mere executory contract for a sale. In the case of the former transaction, the title to the goods passed to the buyer; in the case of the latter, it remained with

the seller. When an executory contract for a sale was performed with respect to the transfer of title, there was said to be a sale or an executed contract for sale.

The transfer of title as the essential element of sale is a principle of law of such an elementary nature that the courts have not addressed it on frequent occasion. The Utah Supreme Court expressed the principle 36 years ago in Union Portland Cement Co. v. State Tax Commission, 110 Ut. 135, 170 P. 2d 164 (1943). when it observed: "The essence of a sale is the transfer of title to goods from the seller to the buyer [citations omitted]."

Although the foregoing two references deal with the definition of a "sale" in the context of the transfer of title to goods, the principle is the same with respect to real property.

By its own terms, a uniform real estate contract does not permit the transfer of title from the seller to the buyer until all of the terms of the contract are performed and all of the payments contemplated by the contract are made. Paragraph 19 of the secondary contract (TR. 10-11) states:

The Seller on receiving the payments herein reserved to be paid at the time and in the manner above-mentioned, agrees to execute and deliver to the Buyer or assigns, a good and sufficient warranty deed conveying the title to the above-described premises free and clear of encumbrances. . . .

In addition to the fact that there has been no transfer of title from Respondents a third party of the real property here in question, it is also helpful to consider the other

language of the contract (TR. 10-11). For example, Paragraph 2 states:

That Seller, for the consideration herein mentioned, agrees to sell and convey to the buyer, and the buyer for the consideration herein mentioned, agrees to purchase the following described real property. . . . (Emphasis added.)

It is noteworthy that the language does not state: "the Seller hereby sells and conveys to the Buyer, and the Buyer hereby purchases the following described real property". The language is prospective.

Again, turning to Black's Law Dictionary, we find the following:

An executory sale is one which has been definitely agreed on as to terms and conditions which have not yet been carried into full effect in respect to some of its terms and details, as where it remains to determine the price, quantity or identity of the things sold, or to pay installments of purchase money, or to effect a delivery. [Citations omitted.] (Emphasis added.) Black's Law Dictionary, 4th Ed., p. 1504. See also Universal Sales Corp. v. California Press Mfg. Co., 128 P.2d 665 (Cal. 1942).

Obviously, in this case the contract in question has not yet been carried into full effect as there remains the obligation to pay installments of purchase money; consequently, this contract constitutes an executory contract for the sale as opposed to a completed sale.

In the case of Noto v. Blasco, 198 So. 429 (1940), the plaintiff entered into a contract to purchase three lots of real property from Defendant. Plaintiff made a partial payment of \$50.00 on the total contract price of \$1,700.00. Defendant later prevailed upon plaintiff to release him from his contract to sell the lots. Plaintiff alleged that he was induced to release the contract on account of fraudulent misrepresentations of the defendant. He prayed for damages in an amount equal to the difference between his contract price and the higher price for which the property was sold by the defendant shortly after plaintiff gave his release. The court concluded that if the contract between the parties constituted a sale, then plaintiff could recover the benefit of his bargain (i.e., the difference between his contract and the contract by which the property ultimately sold). On the other hand, in the event the contract was not a sale but only a promise to sell, the plaintiff could only recover the partial payments made by him. Regarding this issue, the court stated,

An agreement for the sale of real estate, which contemplates the passing of the property (or title) not immediately and by virtue of the agreement, but by an act to be executed at a later date, and which contains all of the elements of the sale, such as the price, the property and the consent of the parties, is merely a promise of sale, unless the intention of the parties clearly indicates that the agreement itself constitutes a completed sale.

As there was no completed sale, and as the parties contemplated the completion of the sale in the future by the execution of a deed transferring the ownership, the contract in this case, according to the following cases, must be construed as a contract or promise of sale and not a completed sale, and the amount deposited must be considered as earnest money, and the purchaser limited to the recovery of the earnest money. [Citations omitted.] Ibid 432.

The third party contract (TR. 10-11) is an executor contract which contemplates the passing of title eight years hence when all of the terms of the contract shall be complete. Until that time, there has been no sale, and the acceleration clause of Paragraph 3(a) of the primary contract does not become operative under the facts of this case.

The foregoing argument applies primarily to the operational effect of Paragraph 3(a) as it relates to the transaction between Respondents and a third party (TR. 10-11). Appellants, however, have raised a new issue and a new argument on appeal. Appellants argue that,

The court must assume a sale, assignment or conveyance of C & J Industries, Inc.'s rights or interests to Glade N. James and A. Robert Collins in order for them to enter the contract executed by them on March 9, 1979 (Exhibit "B" p. 10). If there was a sale, assignment or conveyance by C & J Industries, Inc., to Glade N. James and A. Robert Collins, then it was a breach of Paragraph 3(a). Appellants' Brief, 8.

This argument is not one which Respondents now address because it was not plead, argued or submitted in any

fashion in the court below. The Court has repeatedly held and recognized that it will not consider a matter raised for the first time on appeal. Edgar v. Wagner, 572 P.2d 405 (Ut. 1977); State by and through Road Commission v. Larkin, 27 Ut. 2d 295, 495 P.2d 817 (1972); Riter v. Cayias, 19 Ut.2d 358, 431 P.2d 788 (1967); Hamilton v. Salt Lake County Sewerage Improvement District No. 1, 15 Ut.2d, 260 P.2d 235 (1964); Tygesen v. Magna Water Co., 13 Ut.2d 397, 375 P.2d 456 (1962); Carson v. Douglas, 12 Ut.2d 424, 367 P.2d 462 (1962).

## II

EVEN IF THE THIRD PARTY CONTRACT TRANSACTION IN THIS CASE WERE CONSIDERED TO BE A PRESENT SALE, THE TRANSFER OF A SMALL PORTION OF THE TOTAL REAL PROPERTY SUBJECT TO THE PRIMARY CONTRACT DOES NOT ACCELERATE PAYMENTS UNDER THE CONTRACT OR VIOLATE THE PROVISIONS OF PARAGRAPH 3(a) THEREOF.

As mentioned, Paragraph 3(a) requires the buyer to pay off the contract in full in the event the buyer desires to transfer "Buyer's rights" under the contract. It is Respondents' contention and understanding the the broad language in question requires the contract to be paid in full in the event the buyer transfers all its rights under the contract. Appellants, on the other hand maintain that the language imposes an obligation to pay off the contract if any of the buyer's rights were transferred or any of the property sold, however small.

The construction of the language in contracts requires that the words be given their ordinary meaning, i.e., the meaning which they would convey to reasonable men. 17 Am. Jur. "Contracts" §§243, 247.

Stated in slightly different words, the language and acts of a party to a contract are to receive such a construction as at the time he supposed the other party would give to them or such a construction as the other party was fairly justified in giving to them and he will not at a later time be permitted to give them a different operation in consequence of some mental reservation. §248:641 (Emphasis added).

The words "Buyer's rights" without specific limitation or reservation denote the meaning of "all rights". Normally, words are thought to describe the whole unless otherwise stated. A grantor, for example, is said to convey all property described in the document of conveyance unless a particular portion thereof is specifically reserved. Similarly, "Buyer's rights" reasonably means all rights possessed by the buyer unless more narrowly or specifically defined. Had the parties agreed to a more narrow term in this regard, it would have been a simple and logical matter to have stated,

In the event Buyer desires to sell or assign, transfer or convey any of Buyer's rights under this contract or Buyer's interest in said premises, then and in that event the Buyer must pay in full the outstanding balance due on this contract prior to said transaction. (Additional words underlined.)

The interpretation placed upon this language by Appellants flies in the teeth of reasonableness. Appellants maintain that the term in question would be violated and consequently a material breach of the contract would result upon the transfer or conveyance of any right of the buyer, however small or insignificant. This would require the payment of the entire unpaid balance of the contract if the buyer were to convey to a neighboring property owner a one-foot strip on which the neighbor could place a fence. Such an interpretation is not reasonable and does not serve the purpose it was originally designated to accommodate.

Although Respondents believe that the language in question is clear and denotes "all" of buyer's rights under the contract, Respondents also contend, in the alternative, that at the very worst the language is ambiguous. Assuming ambiguity for the sake of argument, the ambiguous language must be construed strictly against the drafter -- in this case it is the Appellants.

Wingets, Inc. v. Bitters, 28 Ut.2d 231, 500 P.2d 1007 (1972) was an action by the seller of real property against the buyers for recovery of the balance due on the contract price which seller had declared "immediately due and payable" on the ground that buyers were in default. The court stated that forfeiture is not favored in the law and that the buyers were entitled to the most favorable interpretation that could be placed upon the forfeiture provision by a person

of ordinary intelligence and understanding, and in light of existing circumstances. In ruling against the seller, the court applied the general rule of law that the provisions of the contract should be construed most strictly against the party who drafted the contract. See also Wells Fargo Bank N.A. v. Midwest Realty & Finance, Inc., 544 P.2d 882 (1975); Wagstaff v. Reinco, Inc., 540 P.2d 931 (1975).

In this particular instance, Appellants, or their attorney, drafted the contract in question, and therefore, its provisions (in particular Paragraph 3(a)) should be construed strictly against them and resolved in favor of Respondents, declaring the language to refer to the transfer of all buyer rights.

Appellants contend in their brief that they do not seek a forfeiture in this case; it should be noted, however, that as previously mentioned the Appellants served upon Respondents a Notice to Reinstate Terms of Contract to Purchase by Payment of All Delinquent Amounts Due and Owing by Virtue of the Sale of the Property Subject to said Contract or Forfeiture of All Rights Under Said Contract. (Emphasis added.) Furthermore in the event the payments under the primary contract were accelerated and Respondents were required to pay off the outstanding balance (approximately \$213,000.00), it could well be that Respondents would be unable to pay off the outstanding balance, in which case Appellants' only viable remedy would be to seek a forfeiture.

III

EVEN TAKING APPELLANTS' POSITION THAT RESPONDENTS BREACHED THE CONTRACT, THE "BREACH" WAS OF A MINOR NATURE AND DOES NOT EQUITABLY JUSTIFY AN ACCELERATION.

It is a well established principle of law that although a minor breach gives rise to an immediate cause of action for damages caused by the breach, it does not give rise to a cause of action for breach of the entire contract as urged by the Appellants. Viewing this principle from another perspective -- from the point of view of what has been done under the contract as opposed to what was not done -- the same principle is expressed as the doctrine of "substantial performance" which is simply the mirror image of the "minor-breach doctrine." It looks to the spirit of the contract and not the letter of it.

The question is not whether there has been a literal compliance, but whether there has been a substantial performance. This has long been the rule in equity. Accordingly, substantial and not exact performance accompanied by good faith is all the law requires in the case of any contract to entitle a party to recover on it.

Although a plaintiff is not absolutely free from fault or omission in every particular, the court will not turn him away if he has in good faith made substantial performance, but will enforce his rights on the one hand and preserve the rights of the defendant on the other, by permitting a recoupment. 17 Am.Jur.2d "Contracts" §375:818.

This rule of law prevents the inequities of forfeiture where there has been substantial compliance while preserving the injured party's right to recover damages for the minor breach. It is important to note, however, that Appellants have not been damaged in any degree as a result of the contract to sell the three lots.

The question now becomes: "What is 'substantial performance', or what constitutes a 'minor breach'?" The answer is provided by the Restatement of the Law of Contract §275, pp. 402, 403. The Restatement lists six factors to be taken into consideration in determining whether a breach is material or minor in nature. The text of §275 is:

In determining the materiality of a failure to fully perform a promise, the following circumstances are influential.

(a) The extent to which the injured party will obtain the substantial benefit which he would have reasonably anticipated;. . .

Appellants as sellers of the property are entitled primarily to receive payment for their property in the amount and at the intervals set forth in the contract (\$220,000.00 at \$2,297.31 per month with 9-1/2 per cent interest). That benefit has not been interrupted and is secure. It has not been jeopardized in the least as a result of the alleged "breach" of which Appellants complain.

(b) The extent to which the injured party may be adequately compensated in damages for lack of complete performance;. . . Id.

Here again, while Appellants may argue that they have a cause of action for the contract to sell three lots, they have not been damaged in the least as a result thereof.

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